1956

# State of Utah v. Eugene Myers : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

This case stems from an original information  
which alleged that the Appellant and Co-defendant,  
Oliver Townsend "Did Rob DEAN JONES and WAYNE LUCK  
at the Nelson Motor Lodge, 27th. South & State Sts.  
Salt Lake City, Utah on March 29, 1954.

Appellant, ~~Myers and two~~ women who had paid him to drive them to Boise, Idaho, were arrested as they were going through Twin Falls, Idaho, on March 30, 1954. After waiving extradition, they were returned to Salt Lake City, Utah .

On July 1, 1954 the Appellant Myers charged jointly with Oliver Townsend was put on trial on an information of ROBBERY (14571). After the jury was duly impaneled and sworn to try the defendants one of the jurors, JOHN J. BERGER, stated (in Judge Lewis' chambers) that he knew the state's first witness that was about to take the stand - DEAN JONES, and proceeded to tell Judge Lewis what a "Drunkard" and "no good thing" he knew Jones to be and Mr. Berger added that if he stayed on the jury he would find for the defendants. At this point, Assist. Dist. Attorney, Christian Ronnow asked for and received "a recess until 2:00 P. M... During the recess, ANOTHER INFORMATION, was brought against the Appellant, Myers alleging that he alone "Stole" the property that he and co-dendant, OLIVER TOWNSEND were STILL

ON TRIAL (in jeopardy) for supposedly having taken property in evidence during an alleged "Robbery".

Also during the said recess, the Appellant, Myers was taken into the chambers of Judge, Marcellus K. Snow. Judge Snow asked "Is this the man who has waived his preliminary hearing", someone, (not the Appellant) said "yes". And Judge, Snow said "take him up to Judge, Lewis".... No information was read to the defendant, "no copy thereof, was given to him, nor was the Appellant asked any questions whatsoever with regards to the NEW INFORMATION OF " GRAND LARCENY". When the defendant, (Appellant) Myers, told his attorney, Ben D. Browning that he would not plead guilty to "Grand Larceny Mr. Browning, looked at the clock in the court room and said to the Appellant - "YOU EITHER PLEAD GUILTY TO GRAND LARCENY OR I'LL WITHDRAW FROM THE CASE". At this point, the Appellant was "shocked" and afraid and under the threat and coercion of his attorney, he unwillingly entered a plea of Guilty to the said NEW INFORMATION OF GRAND LARCENY. On July 17, 1954, the defendant swore to and submitted an Affidavit for a change of Plea, which Affidavit was prepared by a court-appointed attorney, Allen Swan. (Trans;



Mr. Swan withdrew from the Appellant's case on the 29th. day of September. Mr. Lee W. Hobbs, who was appointed by the court to represent the defendant, made a motion for a Bill of Particulars on November 30, 1954 (Trans. pp. 33-34) at which time the Appellant, under the advise of Mr. Hobbs entered an "AMENDED PLEA" of "NOT GUILTY BECAUSE OF PRIOR JEOPARDY". Later Mr. Hobbs made a further motion for a bill of Particulars. (Trans. p.37)

On or before the 13th. day of December, 1954 Mr. Hobbs submitted a 'PETITION FOR A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS' designated - Civil No. 103 849, in which Appellant Myers alleged that he had already been 'Once in jeopardy' for the offense charged as follows:

" 3. That your petitioner has been once in jeopardy for the offense charged in that he was heretofore charged with and tried for the crime of robbery before the Hon. David T. Lewis, one of the judges of this court, on July 1, 1954, that a lawful jury was impaneled therein and that thereafter, on motion of counsel for the state of Utah, the aforesaid information wherein your

Statement of case, Cont. 45 -

petitioner was charged with robbery, being Salt Lake County Criminal Case No. 14571, State of Utah vs. Eugene Myers & Oliver Townsend, et al was dismissed.

4. "That the acts alleged to have been committed by your petitioner in the information in Case No. 14608 are the identical acts and constitute the identical offense charged in Criminal Case No. 14571 as is shown in the Bill of Particulars on file in the aforesaid Criminal Case No. 14608.

A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS was granted upon the foregoing Petition by Judge Ray Van Cott, Jr., on the 13th day of December, 1954, as Civil No. 103 849 and was summarily denied with the prejudicial and "against the man" ruling in the following words (Verbatim) "Mr. Hobbs, 'this man' (referring to defendant Myers) "is using sleight of hand tactics - trying to out-wit the court - writ denied". Later, on January 13, 1955, Judge Lewis Jones, ordered Mr. Lee W. Hobbs, to "perfect the Appellant's appeal to the State Supreme Court from the said ruling of

(Statement of Case Cont.) --6--

Judge Van Cott. In addition, Judge Lewis Jones ordered that the District Attorney "Subpoena Oliver Townsend and other witnesses whose names the Appellant submitted and the judge said "WE CANNOT TRY THIS MAN WITHOUT HIS MATERIAL WITNESSES

However, Mr. Hobbs refused to comply with the said orders of the court and in excess of eleven months later, the District Attorney still had not subpoenaed the Appellant's witnesses as ORDERED BY THE COURT (Judge Lewis Jones) and, contrary to the above-quoted statement of Judge Jones, the appellant was forced to stand trial WITHOUT HIS "MATERIAL WITNESSES" etc. On the 7th day of March 1955, Mr. Hobbs was permitted by the Honorable A. H. Ellett to withdraw from the Appellant's case. (Trans. P. 51.)

On the 10th of March, 1955, Myers appeared in person and without counsel Before Hon. A. H. Ellett, and was informed that he must be ready for trial March 15, 1955 (Trans. P. 52)...On March 11, 1955 the District Attorney made a petition the two (2) psychiatrists be appointed to examine defendant Myers, as to his sanity (Trans. P. 58) and it was so ordered by Judge A. H. Ellett (Trans. P. 59)

And after ~~such examination~~, Myers was committed to the State Hospital at Provo for "30 days observ. (Trans. P. 54)

On April 7, 1955, Judge, Ellett received a letter from Dr. Owen P. Heninger , Supt. of State Hosp. stating Myers to be "INSANE" (Trans. P. 62) and Judge A. H. Ellett ordered a sanity hearing for Myers ( Trans. P. 63-64) at which hearing on April 19, 1955 (IN THE ABSENCE OF THE APPELLANT, MYERS) the court found and determined Myers to be INSANE. And the Judge ordered Myers committed to the State Hospital until restored to sanity, (Trans. P. 65.) In the first part of July, 1955, Myers asked that he be given a re-hearing on the question of his ~~sane~~ sanity which letter, Judge Ellett did not answer but later he issued an order that Myers be returned to Salt Lake, but Dr. Heninger, the Supt. of St. Hos in a letter to Judge Ellett expressed doubt as to Myers having regained his sanity, saying : "however we have nothing in our files to indicate this"... (Trans. P. 66.)

On the 26th. day of October, 1955, upon the assumption of JUDGE ELLETT, that Myers was sane, an order was issued for him to be returned to Salt

for trial (Trans. P. 71) Myers was returned to the Salt Lake County on October 26, 1955.

On November 16, 1955, Myers appeared before Judge, Ray Van Cott, Jr. and was told he was going to trial on the 25th. of November, and that counsel would be appointed to represent him. (Trans. P.74)

On November 19, 1955, Wayne A. Ashworth, newly appointed counsel for Myers, Made a motion for a continuance of trial date (Nov.25.) and despite the written motion of Mr. Ashworth stating the reasons he did not have time to prepare A DEFENSE (Trans/ P. 82.), Judge Van Cott Summarily ordered the motion for Continuance denied. (See Trans. P.75.) the defendant Myers already having made a motion for a DIFFERENT JUDGE, on the 17th of November, 1955 (Trans. P. 81.) although mistakenly calling it a "Change of Venue". After being personally told that he could not get a "FAIR TRIAL" by Mr. Ashworth who also told the defendant that his case had been "butchered" and he did not wish to handle the case especially in view of the court's denial of his motion for a continuance, the defendant, Myers

Mailed a written request to Judge Van Cott asking that other counsel be appointed to represent him rather than FORCE the unwilling Mr. Ashworth to continue JUST FOR THE RECORD and NOT FOR THE DEFENDANT. The defendant's request was not recognized

Mr. Ashworth then made a Written Motion for WITHDRAWAL as counsel for the defendant but this too was denied by the court ( Judge, Van Cott ) and unwilling and UNPREPARED, Mr. Ashworth was FORCED to continue as counsel for Myers, (Trans. 76) Another motion for a continuance was denied by Judge Van Cott (Trans. P. 90)

Thus the defendant Myers was FORCED to go to trial on the 25th of November(1955) without any Preparation for trial and none of his witnesses having been subpoenaed or contacted and with the "UNWILLING" Mr. Ashworth being Forced to remain as COUNSEL OF RECORD, while the defendant was Forced to attempt to defend himself on the spur of the moment and in his own words "stumble along" . He was without counsel at the start of the trial (Trans. PP 139-140) and was refused counsel at the start of the second day of the trial when he was in

the midst of the cross-examination of the

State's Chief witness at which time the defendant needed Competent counsel most. (Trans. 273) And the defendant was also denied his request for counsel to make the closing address to the jury. (Trans. P. 366) In addition, the trial court refused to even allow the defendant to offer an evidence on an " Amended Plea" of " Once in jeopardy - A plea that was entered on or about November 30, 1954 before Judge, Ellett. Nor was the defendant who had only been back from the State Hospital (Where he had spent 7½ mos. because of diagnosed "INSANITY") he had only been released from Hosp. less than a month and the defendant was not allowed to enter a Plea of not Guilty by reason of insanity. (Trans. PP. 136. 173

The official report of the proceedings of the trial shows that it was a continual round of arguments with the Judge and Dist, Att. with Judge, Van Cott joining forces with the D.A. along with county Attorney Sagers, (who kept whispering in the ears of the District Att. ) and JUDGE ARTHUR J. MAYS, who sat at the counsel table talking to the Dist. Att. and turning



pages in the transcript as he talked to the the Dist. Att. All these events took place in the PRESENCE OF THE JURY and when called to the judge's attention, he stated that he could not do anything about it, All these things tended to harass, bewilder and frighten a helpless defendant who was only trying to protect himself in a legal procedure he did not understand. Naturally in the face of the defendant's ignorance of legal procedures, without PREPARED and WILLING counsel, in the absence of any witnesses in his behalf, not being confronted by one of two complainants against him in conjunction with the forementioned un-declared assistance given the Dist, Att. By Mr. Sagers, Judge Mays and others during the trial, the defendant Myers was found guilty of Grand Larceny (Tr. P. 79, 103

After conviction, (Nove30,1955) Myers made a written request for counsel to represent him, and work on perfecting an Appeal, stating that he would prefer Mr, Grover Giles ( Tr. P. 110) Judge Van Cott appointed Mr. Giles (Tr. P. 108) and Mr. Giles promptly made a motion for a con-



St. of Case Cont. - 121-

and it was continued to December 24, 1955.

(Trans. P. 109) However it seems that Judge Van Cott was afraid that the victim Myers might be able to protect himself with his new Counsel, so the Hon. Judge had the defendant Myers brought before him on the 23rd. of Dec. ONE DAY BEFORE THE DATE ORIGINALLY SET FOR SENTENCING, which of course meant that Myers would be WITHOUT COUNSEL and was then and there (over the defendant's requests for counsel), Was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for Grand Larceny (Tr. P. 113) although the court granted a stay of execution, the harm had already been done, in that Myers had no knowledge of the fact that he could have entered a Motion for new trial, 'Motion in arrest of Judgement' and any other motions to show cause against judgement that he could have done had there been counsel present to advise him what to do.

- 12 - - 12 -

\*\*\*\*\*

**\*\* POINT ONE \*\***

THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO COUNSEL AND TO BE HEARD AND THEREBY DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO "DUE PROCESS OF LAW" AND THE "EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS" UNDER SECTION ONE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

\*\*\*\*\*

In that:

- A. He was deprived of his constitutional Right to DEFEND and be heard by competent COUNSEL in his behalf.
- B. He was deprived of his constitutional right to defend himself and be heard, to "Testify in his own behalf" -- that is, to offer evidence on his plea of 'ONCE IN JEOPARDY'. and to enter and offer evidence on a Plea of Not guilty by reason of insanity; either one of which was a complete defense to the crime charged;
- C. He was denied his constitutional right to be confronted by the witnesses against him that he was convicted on purely HEARSAY

EVIDENCE in the absence of DEAN JONES who did not testify nor appear at the trial of which proceeding the defendant was found guilty of Grand Larceny on said evidence.

- D. He was deprived of his constitutional right to compel the attendance of witnesses in his his own behalf -- in that Court-appointed Counsel was not allowed time to so so, and the court itself, would not issue subpoenas for the witnesses - " Material witnesses" contrary to the orders of Judge, Lewis Jones on January 13, 1955 and contrary to the defendant's said constitutional right.

\*\*\*\*\*

Consistent with the Appellant's deficiency in knowledge of and training in this field, he must present these foregoing contentions under POINT ONE, as an intermingled whole, jumping from one to the other as the case progresses, but he wishes this honorable court to keep in mind that the basic point intended to underlie all else is that he was deprived of his constitutional right to COUNSEL, and although he was given token appoint-

ment of counsel at various times that in reality, the aid of counsel was PRO FORMA, that during the actual trial and other critical proceedings against him, the APPELLANT did not have the assistance of in any sense of the word; For if he had competent counsel IN HIS BEHALF, none of the other matters complained of would not have happened, therefore he first brings up the denial of counsel, weaves in the other matters of which he complains, and then returns to the basic issue of denial of his constitutional right to counsel.

The Constitution of the State of Utah through Article I, Section 12, guarantees:

"In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel,... to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have a compulsory to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

\* ( Underlining by Appellant)

See also U.C.A. 1953 Sec's 77-1-8, 10

Appellant conceded that the trial

Court appointed several different attorneys as Counsel for him on different occasions during this case, but insists that their assistance was almost entirely PRO FORMA, and that he was not in any way assisted by competent (PREPARED) Counsel during his trial on November 25-26, 1955 (Tr.P. 138.) That he was refused Counsel at the start of the second day of the trial, at which time the state's Chief Witness was being cross-examined, the stage in the trial when the assistance of Counsel was most urgently needed. (Tr.PP 276-277). That he was denied his request for ~~COUN~~ Counsel to address the jury at the close of the case, another critical stage in the trial, when the assistance of counsel would have been most valuable (Trans. Page 366.)

That he was without counsel at the time of his ~~an~~ sentencing, which Judge Van Cott called a day ahead of the set time and Court-appointed Counsel for the Appellant was not present and therefore the Appellant- not read in legal procedures, was not aware of his right to enter a motion for 'New Trial', Motion in Arrest Of Judgement or

or the other legal steps that could have been taken to protect the defendant's Legal Rights (Tr. PP. 109, 113)

At the start of the trial on the 25th day of November, 1955, from the mid page 136 to 138 (TR) there appears the discussion in regard to Mr. Ashworth, to the effect that he had not been ~~gix~~ given time in which to prepare the case for trial and contact witnesses, and that he wished to WITHDRAW because he felt that he could not get the defendant, Myers a "FAIR TRIAL". Appellant wished the unwilling Mr. Ashworth to withdraw as requested by ~~Mr.~~ Ashworth himself. And appoint other counsel, but the court finally told Mr. Ashworth to step aside but remain in in case the Court needed him further (Tr.Pl38) There was no offer to appoint other Counsel but the defendant was forced to proceed to trial WITHOUT COUNSEL, and the transcript clearly shows the complete ignorance of the defendant as to legal procedures -probably consistent with the fact that the defendant had only

recently been declared INSANE and with no knowledge of law, a fair trial could not have been had, by the Appellant under those conditions.

At Transcript Page 82, is the MOTION FOR CONTINUANC made on the 19th. day of November, 1955, and it states as follows:

" This motion is based upon the grounds that counsel for the defendant was appointed on the 17th. day of November, 1955 and that seven days is not sufficient to prepare a defense in the defendant's behalf. Further the defendant has a material witness at 80 Stone St., Newark, New Jersey and another at 525 Fifth Ave., Seattle, Washington, which he feels would be aids in his defense, and the time allowed counsel to contact these witnesses before trial is not sufficient..

Dated this 19th. day of November, 1955

Wayne A. Ashworth.

This motion was summarily 'DENIED' (Trans.90.) and it is once more noted that the defendant was FORCED to stand trial without any possibility of receiving a FAIR TRIAL in the



total absence of all essential Constitutional contents inherent in a FAIR TRIAL in America.

On the 21st. day of November, 1955, said Counsel Mr. Ashworth in disgust over the Court's abuse of discretion, submitted his withdrawal from the case (Trans. P. 98.) The record shows that the defendant Myers continually asked for counsel, Competent Counsel and his requests were continually evaded by

Trans. P. 140, lines 4-5, Myers requested:

"MYERS: 'I would like counsel that  
you give time to prepare my trial at this time...

Trans. Page 140, lines 24-25:

MYERS: I want an attorney that you have given  
more than a week to get my case prepared.

Trans. Page 141, lines 7-8:

MYERS: I don't have no lawyer and don't  
know no law, Is this a Court of Justice?



Trans. Page 143, lines 21-22, he stated :

Mr. MYERS: I didn't know I would be forced to stand trial without a lawyer, your honor.

Trans. Page 148, lines 9-17,

MYERS: I would like a peice of paper, Your honor I would like the record to show that I don't consider me as representing myself. I am just saying a few things in the absence of counsel. I do not have Com petent counsel. I do not want the record to show tha I am representing myself. I am just saying something for myself, as there is no one who has been given time to say something for me. I do want the record to show that on this date, I didn't try to handle my case. I am not representing myself; I am not counsel

Trans. Page 159. Lines 9-10: Appellant stated:

MYERS: " It doesn't matter to me what the state use I am just stumbling here as I don't have a lawyer"

Trans. Page 169, lines 22-25:

CROSS EXAMINATION

By MYERS: Mr. Luck, if my questions don't make any sense, its just because I don't know anything about

this deal. I didn't have no time to prepare. I just had one minute in which to prepare...

Trans. Page 261, lines 4-7:

"Q. Yes sir. I think I pointed out at the beginning of this that I was not representin myself, I was just saying a few words. I think the court is aware that I don't know anything about the law. I am just stumbling,....

The foregoing exerpts should clearly show that the defendant was in need of Counsel and wanted Counsel for his defense, that is PREPARED COUNSEL.

Trans. Page 136 shows that defendant Myers attempted to enter a Plea of 'Not Guilty by reason of Insanity and was not allowed to do so as follows:

"MYERS: Your honor as you know, I am no Lawyer and I want to change my plea at this time from Not Guilty to Not Guilty by reason of Insanity. I would like the record to show I want to change my plea (Lines 1-4)...

THE COURT: You are too late for such a Plea and it wi

will be denied (L.11-12)

Referring to U.C.A. 1953 Section 77-22-16:

Notice of Proposed defense of Insanity.. last three lines state:...

" The Court may however, permit such evidence to be introduced where good cause for the failure to file notice has been made to appear"

U. C. A. 1953 Section 77-24-5, provides:

" All matters of fact tending to establish a defense other than once specified, in the third or fourth subdivisions of section 77-24-1 may be given in evidence under the plea of Not Guilty.

Under section 77-24-1 it is stated:

" Since the adoption of Laws 1935, Ch.122, a defendant may enter a plea of not guilty because of insanity. (PEOPLE vs. GREEN 88 U. 491, 496, P. 2d. 1324)."

U.C.A. 1953, Section 77-43-1, provides:

" no person while insane shall be tried adjudged to punishment or punished for public offense"

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