1956

State of Utah v. Eugene Myers : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF ANY
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT WHEREIN IT IS PRO-
VIDED THAT IN A CRIMINAL PROSECUTION THE
ACCUSED SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO APPEAR
AND DEFEND BY PERSON OR BY COUNSEL BE-
CAUSE HE HAD THE SERVICES OF SIX CAP-
ABLE AND EXPERIENCED ATTORNEYS.

On July 1, 1954, appellant appeared in court and entered a plea of guilty to grand larceny. During all the proceedings he was represented by an attorney whom he had retained. The attorney he retained has the reputation of being a good criminal lawyer. After his attorney had made an investigation of the case he apparently felt that appellant would be best served by entering a plea of guilty to grand larceny and this appellant did by stepping forward and personally entering the guilty plea (R. 5). Within two weeks after appellant had entered his plea of guilty he filed with the court an affidavit claiming that his counsel had coerced him into pleading guilty. This affidavit was prepared with the assistance of another attorney and the record does not show for certain whether he was employed by appellant or appointed by the court. After the filing of this affidavit both attorneys, the one originally retained and the second attorney to enter the case withdrew.

Appellant has ever since tried to proceed upon the theory of "unlimited substitution" of counsel in the hopes that he could find an attorney willing to take the case and proceed as appellant directed, doing so without question. This dedication was to be displayed as to the procedural aspects of the case as well as to the law. The "unlimited substitution rule" devised by appellant caused the court to appoint two other attorneys each in turn. It is interesting to note that both of these attorneys apparently filed withdrawals with the court after the initial interview with appellant. Again the court obliged appellant by appointing another attorney to rep-

resent him. This time it was Mr. Lee Hobbs who, under the authorization of the court appointment, spent considerable time and effort on behalf of appellant. All of the attorneys that had been either retained by appellant or appointed by the court were capable and experienced in the practice of law.

Included in the record is a letter sent by Mr. Hobbs to Judge Lewis Jones concerning a hearing held before Judges Jones and some orders issued by the court at that time. This letter discloses the handicap Mr. Hobbs was forced to work under while representing appellant, and respondent feels the letter would be wholeheartedly endorsed as a factual and true picture of the appellant's attitude by all the attorneys who had represented him prior to and since Mr. Hobbs' appointment. Mr. Hobbs explained to the judge that he had " * * * had a great deal of trouble with this case, all of it due to Mr. Myers' insistence on dictating how the case should be handled in every detail." Mr. Hobbs goes on and explains the situation in the following words:

" * * * My immediate concern is with the following problems.

First, the question of Mr. Myers' supposedly necessary witnesses. I did not and do not want to jeopardize Mr. Myers' position before the court and so to date have made no record as to my reasons for refusing to obtain Mr. Myers' witnesses. Mr. Myers has admitted to me and I am advised by his former attorney that Myers admitted to him that these witnesses would say anything that Myers wanted them to. Further, following our appearance in your court here in Salt Lake, I went

to see Myers in jail and demanded to know why he had claimed to want these witnesses after agreeing with me that they would not called. He stated at that time, without any hesitancy, that he had made the plea for these witnesses for the sole purpose of delaying his trial and indicated that the addresses that he gave for the out of state witnesses would prove fruitless * * * (R. 43).

The appellant having been successful in delaying his trial by being uncooperative and demanding upon his counsel, also managed to impress the court in such a manner that the court, upon its own motion, set up a mental examination for appellant by the appointment of two alienists (R 59). Based upon this initial examination appellant was sent to the hospital at Provo for an observation period of 30 days. At the end of the 30 day period the Superintendent of the Hospital, in a letter addressed to Judge Ellett of the Third District Court, expressed the opinion that appellant was in need of hospitalization. Based upon that letter the court in April of 1955 held a mental hearing and committed appellant to the hospital until restored to sanity (R. 67). The medical staff at the hospital within a six months period became increasingly aware of the fact that appellant was not insane and apparently had cleverly duped them into believing that he was. Upon certification by the hospital that appellant was sane, he was returned to the Salt Lake County Jail to await trial (R. 71). At this time the court appointed another attorney to represent appellant because Mr. Hobbs had withdrawn. The court appointed Mr. Wayne Ashworth.

The record of appellant's trial held in November of 1955 contains many statements made by appellant about his lack of counsel and the fact that Mr. Ashworth was not prepared nor willing to represent him. However, the record does not show that Mr. Ashworth ever in any way displayed that he was unwilling or unprepared in this matter. However, he did file a motion for continuance which was denied by the judge. This denial was within the discretion of the court, wherein Section 77-24-18, U.C.A. 1953, provides that:

“After his plea the defendant shall be entitled to at least two days to prepare for trial, but the time for trial shall not be postponed for a longer time than the court may deem imperative.”

In the cases of *State v. Green*, 89 Utah 437, 57 P.2d 750; *State v. Loughney*, 70 Utah 526, 261 P. 606, this Court has recognized that it is within the discretion of the trial court to expand or limit the time which the accused may have to prepare his case between the plea and the date of trial. The statute provides that two days is sufficient. In this instance appellant and counsel had full seven days to prepare for his trial. Courts in other jurisdictions have held that where the court appoints an attorney to represent an individual accused of a crime, except in capital cases, there is sufficient time for preparation where counsel is allowed two days or more. In the case of *People v. Shiffman*, 350 Ill. 243, 182 N.E. 760, the court held that where the accused was on trial for grand larceny, the defendant's attorney not appearing and the court assigned him another, there was not sufficient time to prepare for trial where the defendant and

his counsel were allowed only five minutes. In the following cases it was held that defendant had been deprived of counsel where the court had appointed an attorney to represent the accused on the day of the trial and then required the accused to stand trial that very same day. *McArver v. State*, 114 Ga. 514, 40 S.E. 779; *Reliford v. State*, 140 Ga. 777, 79 S.E. 1128. Even in capital cases the courts have indicated that two or three days is sufficient time for preparation, the court objecting to a forty minute consultation period allowed defendant his newly appointed attorney in *Dunmas v. State*, — Okla. Crim. Rep. —, 16 P.2d 886.

The court in denying Mr. Ashworth's motion to withdraw, again acted within its discretion. Mr. Ashworth then was obligated as an officer of the court to continue and prepare to the best of his ability a case in defense of the appellant. Judge Ray VanCott, Jr., in refusing both of the motions made by Mr. Ashworth said simply that the case had been continued too often and that the trial was not going to be delayed any longer. Therefore, Mr. Ashworth was obligated to be prepared and be present on the day of the trial, and he did fulfill his obligation.

On the day of trial, November 25, 1955, the appellant was present as was Mr. Ashworth. Appellant insisted that he did not feel or think that Mr. Ashworth could guarantee him a fair trial and therefore did not wish Mr. Ashworth to represent him (R. 136-138, 167-168). When the court reconvened after the noon recess, the

court again informed appellant that Mr. Ashworth was there, ready and willing to represent him. The court questioned appellant as to his reasons for not using the talents of Mr. Ashworth, and finally concluding, and we think very justly so, that appellant had discharged Mr. Ashworth as his counsel (R. 168). Appellant, though denying he was acting as his own counsel, had assumed the burden of cross-examining the witnesses presented by the State and did a good job of it.

All during the trial appellant kept insisting that he was being denied counsel, and that therefore his constitutional rights were being violated. This was done always when the jury was present. After a careful reading of the record a person could not conclude that appellant had been denied counsel. His own testimony refutes this.

“The Court: Well I will have to remind you again that you have persistently refused to have a lawyer until today.

Mr. Myers: Your Honor, I have not. I don't wish to dispute you. Your Honor, I have asked the lawyers to exercise the court's orders. On January 13th Judge Jones ordered that a writ of habeas corpus—

The Court: Well now, wait. I am not going into that. You have spent 18 months going into that.

Mr. Myers: *I have not really refused lawyers. I have refused men who came over and who refused to carry out the court's orders.*” (R 360)

It is interesting to contrast this with the sentiments expressed in Mr. Hobbs' letter to Judge Lewis Jones. This alone should be almost enough to convince the court

that it was not the attorneys' refusal to represent appellant, but rather their objection to trying the case on his theories. It was the appellant's insistence that the attorneys do his bidding that caused the withdrawal of not only the lawyer he had first hired, but also all five of the court-appointed counsel. See *U. S. v. Gutterman*, 147 P.2d 540.

Respondent agrees that in the State of Utah the trial court is under a duty to appoint counsel for an accused criminal where the criminal is unable to employ his own. Other jurisdictions, both federal and state, indicate that though the court is obliged to appoint counsel initially, the court is not obliged to appoint as counsel a new attorney each week until the appellant is satisfied that the man is wholeheartedly behind him and sincerely believes in his cause. *State v. Griffith*, 14 N.J.S. 72, 81 Atl. 2d 382 held:

"A person accused of a crime is only entitled to counsel to aid him in his defense, not to save him from his voluntary acts."

Appellant's attempt to dictate to the attorneys the basis upon which they were to carry on his case, though not an express discharge of counsel, certainly made it impossible and impractical for the attorneys to continue, and we believe is equivalent to an actual discharge of counsel. *U. S. v. Gutterman*, 147 F.2d 540 states as follows:

"An accused unable to employ an attorney must accept such counsel as the court assigns unless he can find a better reason for asking a change than the fact that the accused does not approve of counsel's judgment or unless the accused chooses to undertake his own defense."

As the record bears out, up to and through the trial held in November 1955, six competent attorneys were at one time or other either hired by appellant or appointed to represent him. The fact that appellant did not approve of counsel's judgment is certainly not reason, as above stated, for him to be allowed time and again to have the court appoint men under his "unlimited substitution" rule until he be satisfied. In the case of *People v. Adamson*, 210 P.2d 13, 34 C.2d 320, the court held that a defendant's right to counsel did not include the right to postpone his trial indefinitely and reject the services of competent counsel appointed by the court while the defendant, at his leisure, attempted to find counsel who would serve without charge and whose ideas about the case were similar to his own. Also in the case of *U. S. ex rel. Mitchell v. Thompson*, 56 F. Supp. 683, the court declared that the court's choice of counsel should not be subject to impeachment on the ground that the defendant claimed displeasure with the appointment or that defendant lacked confidence in his attorney. It is only upon a showing of good cause why the appointment should not be made that the defendant can expect to receive additional counsel by way of court appointment. Could anyone who has had the services of six capable and experienced attorneys be said to have been denied his right to counsel? In this case it was only the appellant's obstinate attitude, uncooperativeness and misconception of the law that denied him the right of counsel, if it can be said by the furtherest stretch of the imagination that he was denied counsel.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT HEREIN WAS NOT PLACED IN JEOPARDY A SECOND TIME WHEN THE SECOND COMPLAINT AND INFORMATION WERE FILED NOR WAS HE PREJUDICED BY THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO ALLOW APPELLANT TO AMEND HIS PLEA TO NOT GUILTY BY REASON OF INSANITY.

It is common practice and I am sure that the court is aware of it, that in many instances the prosecuting attorneys in this state find it both desirable and expedient to make an agreement with the accused that upon the accused's promise to enter a plea of guilty to a lesser offense included in the offense charged in the information the prosecuting attorney will recommend to the court that it accept said plea and thereby dismiss the more serious crime alleged in the information. Section 77-24-8, U.C.A. 1953, provides that:

“The defendant, with the consent of the court and the prosecuting attorney, may plead guilty to any lesser offense than that charged which is included in the offense charged in the information or indictment, or of any lesser degree of the offense charged.”

This principle is well recognized in the law of this state as well as in most other jurisdictions. In the case of *Radej v. State*, 152 Wis. 503, 140 N.W. 21, the rule was stated that where by agreement the accused is allowed to plead guilty to a lesser offense that it is a bar to the prosecution for the greater offense on a new trial. In all of the cases dealing with this problem, it is, of course, pointed out that

the accused did agree, prior to the prosecuting attorney's recommendation to the court, to enter a plea of guilty to the lesser offense. Though appellant's consent does not appear in the record, it is most logically presumed that he did either personally or by and through his attorney agree to plead guilty to grand larceny if the robbery charge was dismissed. As the record points out (R. 2) and in spite of appellant's affidavit to the contrary, he personally appeared and waived preliminary hearing after having answered to his true name and after a copy of the complaint had been delivered to his attorney. On that same day he appeared in the District Court where he was arraigned on an information filed by the District Attorney. The information charged appellant with grand larceny. In open court, with his attorney present and representing him, appellant came forward and entered a plea of guilty to grand larceny. In appellant's affidavit which was filed about 16 days later (R. 7) he makes great importance of his claim that his attorney coerced him into entering such a plea. There is no evidence or testimony other than appellant's affidavit concerning the claimed coercion.

In the case of *Sayer v. Commonwealth*, 194 Ky. 338, 238 S.W. 737, the court, referring to an individual who later complained that he had not received the aid of competent counsel in perfecting his defense, said:

“A defendant who is *suri juris* cannot complain after the trial, for the first time, that he selected the wrong lawyer to represent him at his trial. If his attorney is unwilling to present his true defense, or proposes to offer a false defense, or to

do anything which to the defendant appears at war with the facts, with good faith, and in fair dealing, it is the defendant's duty then to appeal to the court, on whom he has the right to rely for protection. If he fails to do so before the trial is concluded, so as to give the trial judge an opportunity to assign him counsel, stop the proceedings, and impanel a new jury or take such steps as will insure the defendant a fair trial, the acts of his counsel will be imputed to the defendant, who will be regarded as sanctioning the proceedings concluded thereby."

Appellant, though the record doesn't show it, must have agreed to the filing of the grand larceny information; certainly through his attorney he did in fact consent and through his attorney, undoubtedly after consulting with him, agreed to enter his plea of guilty to the grand larceny complaint.

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